STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 21 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Richland County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

TREMAINE WRAY,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLANT CASE NO. 2015-000758

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective in failing to cross examine the State's sole eye witness about the fact that he initially did not identify Petitioner or his co-defendant by name despite knowing both of them, and described the suspects involved in the shooting as one black male with dreadlocks and one black male with a close cut haircut and a striped shirt driving a white SUV, possibly a Nissan with a black stripe down the side, descriptions that matched two other individuals stopped shortly after the shooting took place in a white Isuzu Rodeo SUV with ammunition consistent with the shell casings found at the scene of the shooting?

STATEMENT

In August of 2007, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Wray for murder, indictment #2007-GS-40-5914. On October 5, 2009, Wray and his co-defendant, Taurus Watts, proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Michelle J. Childs. Jack Swerling and Arie Bax represented Wray at trial. Vanessa C. Shipley and Joanna A. McDuffie prosecuted the case. On October 15, 2009, the jury returned verdicts of guilty for both men. Judge Childs sentenced Wray to forty (40) years in prison and sentenced Watts to thirty five (35) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected by Appellate Defender Elizabeth Franklin-Best with the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the sentence and conviction. State v. Wray, 2012-UP-477 (S.C.Ct.App. filed August 8, 2012).

On November 29, 2012, Wray filed an application for post conviction relief. The State filed a return on February 19, 2013. On July 7, 2014, Wray filed an amended application. On November 3, 2014, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. L. Marshall Coleman Newton represented Wray at the PCR hearing. Megan E. Harrigan and J. Clayton Mitchell of the South Carolina Attorney General's office represented the State. In a written order signed February 2, 2015, Judge Hayes denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on April 10, 2015. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective in failing to cross examine the State's sole eye witness, Ricky Jacobs, about the fact that he initially did not identify Petitioner or his co-defendant by name despite knowing both of them, and described the suspects involved in the shooting as one black male with dreadlocks and one black male with a close cut haircut and a striped shirt driving a white SUV, possibly a Nissan with a black stripe down the side, descriptions that matched two other individuals stopped shortly after the shooting took place in a white Isuzu Rodeo SUV with ammunition consistent with the shell casings found at the scene of the shooting

In the early morning hours of June 30, 2007, Demuria Hank Johnson was shot in the leg outside of the H&J Club, a night club in Northeast Columbia. Johnson died as a result of the gun shot wound. At trial, the club's owner, Ricky Jacobs, was the State's key witness and the sole eyewitness to the shooting. Jacobs testified that after a fight started inside the club, he stepped outside and saw Petitioner Wray and his co-defendant, Taurus Watts, approaching the club. He told the two men that he was closing the club as a result of the fight. (App. p. 667, lines 17 – p. 668, lines 1-17). There was no evidence that Wray and Watts were involved in the fight inside the club. Jacobs testified that the two men returned to their car, a tan Suburban. (App. p. 669, lines 12-18). Petitioner Wray got into the driver's side and co-defendant Watts got into the passenger side. (App. p. 669, line 19 – p. 670, lines 1-3). According to Jacobs, Watts was holding a gun. (App. p. 670, lines 4-10). Jacobs testified that the tan Suburban drove towards Farrow Road. Then, according to Jacobs, shots were fired from the driver's side of the tan Suburban towards the club. (App. p. 676, lines 2-13). Jacobs testified that a shot was also fired from a white Rodeo as it was leaving the club. (App. pp. 676 - 680).

Shortly after the shooting, Deputy Galinski stopped a white Rodeo matching the vehicle identified by Jacobs. The driver was identified as Luther Centural Landrum, Jr. and the passenger was identified as Earl Jerome Green. (App. p. 2379). Landrum was uncooperative with police. (App. p. 2381). Deputy Galinski found one round of 38 caliber ammunition and some rounds of 9

millimeter ammunition in the white Rodeo. (App. p. 837, lines 18-23.). At the hospital, another officer recovered a fired 9 millimeter bullet from the pants of the deceased. (App. p. 885, lines 4-24; App. p. 1583, lines 4-6). Investigator Collins, an expert in firearms and tool mark examination, testified that the bullet recovered from the hospital matched two fired bullet jackets recovered at the scene and all three had been fired by the same gun. (App. p. 1583, lines 2-6; p. 1585, lines 13-17). Investigator Collins also examined ten fired 9 millimeter Luger caliber cartridge cases recovered from the scene of the shooting. (App. p. 1583, lines 6-7). Investigator Collins testified that the ten cartridge cases were fired by one gun but he could not say that the same gun fired the cartridge cases and the three recovered bullets because no firearm was submitted for comparison. (App. p. 1598, lines 4-17).

Investigator Bouknight conducted GSR tests on the Isuzu Rodeo. The investigator, however, left the GSR kit in his locker for 7 months and when it was tested, it tested negative for gunshot residue. (App. pp. 905-923; App. p. 1515, lines 12 – p. 1516, lines 1-6). Five hours following the shooting, GSR tests were conducted on the hands of Landrum and Greene, the driver and passenger of the white Isuzu Rodeo. (App. p. 1548, line 22 – p. 1549, lines 1-7). When Deputy Galinski initially stopped the white Isuzu Rodeo, he did not have paper bags to place on the hands of the stopped subjects to preserve any possible gun shot residue. (App. p. 844, lines 6-22). Deputy Galinski was instructed to simply make sure the subjects did not wash their hands. (App. p. 844, lines 8-13). Landrum and Greene were finally swabbed for GSR and when the results were examined, not surprisingly, both tested negative for gunshot residue. (App. pp. 1477-1481). The State's GSR expert conceded that the fact that the subject's hands were not bagged could effect the reliability of the test. (App. p. 1547, lines 1-21). The occupants of the white Isuzu Rodeo were not charged in connection with the shooting. A search warrant was executed on the tan Suburban, and a

GSR kit obtained. This test revealed the existence of 16 rounded lead particles in the interior of the Suburban. No weapons or ammunition were located in the Suburban.

In May of 2009, almost two years after the shooting at the H&J club, Brian Watson, who was in jail for armed robbery, claimed to have information in regard to the shooting. At trial Watson testified that on June 30th, 2007, he looked out his back door and saw a truck at his neice, Rashonda Simpson's house. Later, Jarrell Dansby, Simpson's husband at the time, called Watson and asked him to come to the house. He claimed he needed help with something. He showed him a book bag, and there was a gun inside. (App. p. 1145, lines 1-16). Watson testified that he and Dansby decided to get rid of the gun. (App. p. 1147, lines 6-8). Watson testified that he, Dansby and Simpson drove to a creek and disposed of the gun. (App. p. 1149, line 17 – pp. 1150-1152). Officers were unable to find the gun, two years later when Watson came forward. (App. pp. 1310 - 1317).

Dansby testified that on the Saturday either before or after July 4th, his cousin, Petitioner, called and asked if he could leave his gun at Dansby's house. (App. p. 1070, lines 15 – 23). Warrants had been drawn charging Dansby with accessory after the fact of murder but the warrant had been withdrawn in exchange for Dansby's cooperation. (App. p.1066, lines 1-16). In contradiction to Watson's testimony, Dansby and Simpson both denied disposing of a gun with Watson. The jury found both Petitioner and his co-defendant Watts guilty of murder.

In the amended application for post conviction relief Petitioner asserts:

Trial counsel was ineffective in not interviewing or investigating the initial responding officer to the scene Weldon Gregory and his handwritten police report. The officer had evidence favorable to Applicant and not discussing it with him before trial prejudiced Applicant such that he did not receive a fair trial.

a. Weldon Gregory was the first officer to arrive to the crime scene and was the first officer to interview Ricky Jacobs, which was approximately one and a half hours before Officer Don McRae arrived to the scene and interviewed Jacobs.

b. Jacobs told Gregory that two suspects attempted to enter the club and he told them it was closed. He said one of the suspects made a comment to the effect "I've got something for you." The suspects left and then drove by in a white vehicle SUV shooting towards the club. He described the vehicle possibly being a White Nissan with black stripe down the side. He said Suspect 1 had dreadlocks in his hair and Suspect 2 had a close haircut with striped shirt. This description matches the two people who were later pulled over and found to have shell casings in the car matching those found in the road at the crime scene.

(App. p. 2074). During the evidentiary hearing trial counsel admitted that he did not question Jacobs about what he initially told Officer Weldon Gregory. (App. p. 2292, line 8 – p. 2293, lines 1-24). When asked if he questioned Jacobs about the statement he provided to Officer Gregory, trial counsel testified, "No, I did not. As I said, I think it came out in other ways, with the exception of the thing about firing into the club. I just did not. In the scheme of things, I thought that was a minor point." (App. p. 2293, lines 10-13). The inconsistencies from Officer Gregory's report did not come out in other ways. The failure to cross examine Jacobs, a key State's witness and the only eye-witness to the shooting, about his initial statement to Officer Gregory was not "a minor point."

Officer Gregory did not testify at trial but did testify at the PCR hearing. Officer Gregory read his initial report into the record during the evidentiary hearing and the report was introduced in evidence as Respondent's #7 (App. pp. 2394-2395). Officer Gregory confirmed that he was the first officer to speak with Jacobs. (App. p. 2186, lines 4-6). Officer Gregory read his report as follows:

The complainant, the complainant [sic] states that the two suspects attempted to enter the club and the complainant [Jacobs] told suspects he was closed. Complainant states one of the suspects made a comment to – made a comment to the effect that I've got something for you. Complainant stated suspects left the location and a few minutes later, complainant states a white vehicle SUV with the suspects in it began shooting toward the, toward the club. The complainant [Jacobs] described the vehicle possibly being a white Nissan with a black stripe down the –around the side. Complainant states that one of the suspects fired over the top of the vehicle toward the club.

(App. p. 2184, lines 2-19). Officer Gregory confirmed that Jacobs did not provide him with any names for the suspects. Officer Gregory's report describes one subject as a black male with dreadlocks and the second suspect as a black male with close cut hair wearing a striped shirt. (App. pp. 2394-2395). Deputy Galinski, the deputy who stopped the white Isuzu Rodeo, testified at trial that the Rodeo and the Nissan Pathfinder are very similar in model and style. (App. p. 845, lines 6-9).

Jacobs' testimony at trial contained critical inconsistencies with the initial statement he provided to Officer Gregory. Trial counsel failed to cross examine Jacobs in regard to those inconsistencies. The first inconsistency counsel failed to raise is the fact that Jacobs did not identify Petitioner Wray or his co-defendant Watts despite the fact that Jacobs admitted knowing both men. Jacobs admitted that he has known Petitioner for several years, knew his uncles and knew where he lived. (App. p. 764, lines 14-25). Jacobs admitted that he has known the co-defendant, Taurus Watts, for twenty years and his mother actually worked for Jacobs. (App. p. 698, lines 13-16; p. 718, line 11 – p. 719, lines 1-14).

The second inconsistency counsel failed to raise is the fact that Jacobs initially told Officer Gregory that someone in the white SUV fired over the top of the vehicle toward the club. In contrast, at trial Jacobs claimed that the passenger in the white Isuzu Rodeo sat up on the door of the car but only shot one time up in the air. (App. p. 678, line 22 – p. 679, lines 1-23). Jacobs did not tell Officer Gregory there was a second vehicle that fired one shot into the air.

The third inconsistency involves the initial description of the shooters. Jacobs told Officer Gregory that one of the subjects who shot toward the club was a black male with dreadlocks and the other was a black male with a close cut haircut and a striped shirt. (App.

pp. 2394-2395). When Deputy Galinski stopped the white Isuzu Rodeo shortly after the shooting he reported that the driver was a black male with dread hair and the passenger was a black male with short hair wearing a yellow shirt with stripes. (App. p. 849, line 17 – p. 850, lines 1-6; p.2492). The initial description of the shooters Jacobs gave to Officer Gregory matched the individuals stopped in the white Isuzu Rodeo. In contrast, at trial Jacobs claimed that Petitioner and his co-defendant were the shooters but testified that Petitioner was wearing a white T-shirt and the co-defendant wore his hair in short dreads or twists and was also wearing a white T-shirt, not a striped shirt. (App. p. 674, line 22 – p. 675, lines 1-24). Jacobs told Investigator Don McRae that subject #1, the passenger in the tan suburban, had twists in his hair, not dreads.

At trial Jacobs testified that the first officer he spoke with after the shooting was Investigator McRae, in contrast to the testimony of Officer Gregory. Counsel failed to ask Jacobs about the statement made to Officer Gregory. Jacobs was a key witness for the prosecution and the sole eyewitness to the shooting. His credibility, or lack thereof, was a critical factor for the jury to determine. While counsel challenged statements Jacobs made to Investigator McRae, counsel failed to challenge the inconsistencies between the initial statement given to Officer Gregory and Jacobs' trial testimony.

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

After reviewing the entire record and testimony presented, this Court finds that Applicant has failed to establish any deficiency of trial counsel in regards to his allegations involving Weldon Gregory. Trial counsel testified that as a general rule, he does not like to call members of law enforcement as defense witnesses because it is more harmful than helpful to defendants based on his more than forty years of experience. Additionally, he testified that he was able to successfully cross-examine Jacobs without calling Gregory as a defense witness and was able to impeach Jacobs with other documents and testimony, including Gregory's incident report, although not all documents were admitted into the record at trial. This Court agrees with trial counsel's assessment as Jacobs was thoroughly examined as to his recollection of

events and his identification of Applicant and his co-defendant. Therefore, this court finds that trial counsel's performance was not deficient and that Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proof.

(App. pp. 2421-2422). The record does not support the PCR judge's finding. Trial counsel admitted that he did not question Jacobs about what he initially told Officer Gregory so he could not have impeached Jacobs with Gregory's incident report, as stated by the PCR judge. Counsel was ineffective in not questioning Jacobs about his initial statement to Officer Gregory.

The PCR judge additionally found that Petitioner failed to show prejudice writing, "This Court finds that Gregory's testimony added little to the overall presentation and likely would have had no impact on the result of the proceeding." (App. p. 2422). The PCR judge erred. Officer Gregory's testimony would have highlighted the inconsistencies in Jacobs' trial testimony. There is a reasonable probability that trial counsel's failure to cross examine Jacobs about his initial statement to Officer Gregory had an impact on the proceeding. Jacobs, the sole eye witness to the shooting initially did not identify Petitioner or his co-defendant by name despite knowing both of them, and described the suspects involved in the shooting toward the club as one black male with dreadlocks and one black male with a close cut haircut and a striped shirt driving a white SUV, possibly a Nissan with a black stripe down the side, descriptions that matched two individuals stopped shortly after the shooting took place in a white Isuzu Rodeo SUV with ammunition consistent with the shell casings found at the scene of the shooting. Jacobs' trial testimony was in stark contrast to the statements he initially gave Officer Gregory. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to cross examine Jacobs about his initial statement to Officer Gregory. Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance.