STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APR 20 2016

SO SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000758

TREMAINE WRAY,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
S.C. Bar No. 100108
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

A projectile was recovered from the victim at the hospital. (App. 883-85, 888, 889). Round lead particles, a crucial component of gunshot residue was recovered from various locations inside of Applicant's Suburban. (App. 962-65, 1009-10). SLED Agent Michael Moskal testified that the gunshot residue components found were consistent with a weapon being fired from the driver's area of the Suburban. (App. 1507, 1510, 1535, 1572).

While the murder weapon was not recovered by law enforcement, three witnesses testified about the disposal of the firearm. (See App. 1302-81).¹ Rashonda Simpson, who was married to Applicant's cousin, testified that on July 1, 2007, she got into an argument with her husband, Jarrell Dansby, because he was digging a hole in their backyard to purportedly bury the murder weapon. (App. 1030-33). She later saw Dansby walk over to

¹ These witnesses were not located until the start of Applicant's original trial date in trial in May of 2009, when Brian Watson, contacted the solicitor's office and indicated that he had information regarding the disposal and location of the murder weapon. Based on this information, the court granted the State's motion for continuance over Applicant's objection to allow the State additional time to locate the murder weapon. Despite numerous attempts and tactics, including a dive team, the murder weapon was never found.

her uncle, Brian Watson. (App. 1034, 1043). Simpson testified that Watson took the gun apart. (App. 1035, 1043-44). Watson and Dansby then put the gun back into a book bag and left home. (App. 1035). When they returned approximately forty-five minutes later, they did not have the book bag or the gun. (App. 1035, 1045-46). Simpson also noted that Dansby informed her that they had thrown the gun into a river. (App. 1045).

Dansby testified that on the Saturday either before or after July 4, 2007, Applicant asked if he could hide his gun at Dansby's house because Applicant did not have time to hide it from his grandmother. (App. 1069-70). Dansby was not home when Applicant left the gun in the underpinning of Dansby and Simpson's trailer. (App. 1069-72). Dansby testified that he thought about calling the police regarding the gun, but Watson talked him out of it. (App. 1074). Dansby indicated he never actually saw the gun; instead, he showed Watson where it was hidden. (App. 1074-75, 1107). Watson got the bag with the gun inside and left. (App. 1077). Watson returned between one hour and one and one-half hours later, and Watson told Dansby not to worry about the gun. (App. 1077, 1105). Dansby testified that he did not go with Watson to get rid of the gun, and he did not ask Watson where he disposed of the gun. (App. 1077, 1106). Dansby did note that Watson confirmed he got rid of the gun. (App. 1078).

Watson testified that on June 30, 2007, Dansby came to him and asked for assistance. (App. 1144-45). Watson went over to Dansby's home, and Dansby showed Watson a Mac 10 gun that was inside a book bag. (App. 1145, 1148). Watson indicated that Dansby wanted assistance in getting rid of the gun. (App. 1148). They banged on the gun with a hammer. (App. 1148-49, 1179). Watson testified that Dansby got Simpson to

drive the two to get rid of the gun. (App. 1149-50, 1182-83). Watson testified that he threw the gun and the clip into a creek. (App. 1150).

Law enforcement did recover seven nine-millimeter Winchester Luger shell casings and three nine-millimeter RP Luger shell casings from the crime scene. (App. 1212-23). Two projectiles were recovered from the car wash stalls by the club. (App. 1343-44). There were also several bloodstains in the area. (App. 1348-51). All three projectiles, (i.e. the one recovered from the victim and the two found at the scene) were determined to be fired by the same gun. (App. 1343-68, 1598, 1599-1600). Also, all ten shell casings recovered from the crime scene were fired by the same gun. (App. 1594, 1598, 1599-1600). David Collins, the firearms and toolmarks examiner, testified that the firing pin impressions on the casings were consistent with an M-11 type firearm, which he referred to as a MAC 10 styled weapon. (App. 1581-94). Collins could not tie the shell casings to the recovered projectiles because no weapon was provided for comparison. (App. 1598-99).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and conclusions of law receive great deference during appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief decision is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the lower court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (emphasis added). The reviewing court should reverse the post-conviction relief court only if there is no probative evidence to support the lower court's ruling or if it is controlled by an error of law. Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-59, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007) (citing Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 651, 594 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2004)).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. The United States Supreme Court has cautioned "every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight" and to evaluate counsel's decisions at the time they were made. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Accordingly, courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel's tactics. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly determined counsel performed effectively in his handling and examination of State's witness Ricky Jacobs.

Petitioner alleges the post-conviction relief court erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to cross-examine State's witness Ricky Jacobs fully. Specifically, Petitioner alleges trial counsel neglected to question Jacobs about his initial failure to identify Petitioner and co-defendant Watts by name despite knowing them for years. Additionally, Petitioner contends trial counsel failed to question Jacobs adequately regarding the similarities between his initial description to law enforcement and the two men stopped in a white SUV shortly after the shooting. Petitioner asserts this information from Jacobs's initial statement to law enforcement came from the handwritten report of Weldon Gregory, the first officer who arrived on the scene shortly after the shooting. Petitioner avers it was deficient for trial counsel not to investigate Gregory's initial report and question Jacobs about this report. Petitioner further asserts he was prejudiced by counsel's alleged deficiency because the use of Gregory's report would have highlighted inconsistencies in Jacob's testimony and intimates it could have led to a third party guilt claim. However, Petitioner's claims are specious, particularly in light of the thorough cross-examination of Jacobs by both Petitioner's counsel and Watts' counsel. The post-conviction relief court properly denied this claim and there is ample probative evidence to support this ruling. This petition should be denied.

In his amended application for post-conviction relief and at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner presented this claim as a failure of trial counsel to call Gregory as a witness. See App. 2074 ("Trial counsel was ineffective in not calling to the stand the

initial responding officer [Weldon Gregory] to the scene who authored the handwritten incident report. . . . Weldon Gregory's incident report and testimony would have contradicted the state's eyewitness Ricky Jacobs. At the scene, Ricky Jacobs told Officer Weldon Gregory that the suspects in the white car shot towards the club. Then Ricky Jacobs told Officer McCrae that the suburban was the car that shot towards the club. At trial Ricky Jacobs said that he had only spoken to one officer, and neglected to reveal that he had spoken to Weldon Gregory.”)

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel Swerling testified he would not have called Gregory as a witness on Petitioner's behalf, explaining that based on his decades of experience, it is extremely risky to call a member of law enforcement as a defense witness as the witness is often hostile and uncooperative, resulting in testimony that is more harmful than helpful to a defendant. (App. 2277-78). He testified he was able to impeach Jacobs with so many other inconsistencies that there simply was no need to impeach him with testimony from Gregory. (App. 2276-78). Additionally, Swerling testified Gregory's report is devoid of substantive information and highlighted a lack of subject descriptions in Gregory's report. (App. 2276-78). He expounded Gregory's primary role at the scene was security and preservation, not investigation. (App. 2274-75). He testified he was able to better impeach Jacobs with the numerous other police reports that were prepared with an investigative focus. ((App. 2265-74). He testified he made a strategic decision to focus his questioning of Jacobs on substantive issues from the investigation, not Gregory's report that he referred to as a "red herring." (App. 2276).

Swerling testified Ricky Jacobs was an important witness for the State and he was well prepared for his cross-examination of Jacobs. (App. 2264-65). He testified his

standard practice for cross-examination is to prepare an outline of questioning and key points he needs to elicit from a witness. (App. 2247, 2264-65). He testified his cross-examination of Jacobs was extensive, spanning more than fifty-five pages in the trial transcript. (App. 2260-64). He further noted his cross-examination of Jacobs followed the lengthy questioning of co-defendant Watts' counsel Johns. (App. 2260-64). He testified he does not like to ask the same questions on cross-examination that co-counsel has already asked, so he avoided duplicative questions and subjects already covered successfully by Johns. (App. 2260-61, 2262-64). He testified he was able to use several documents to impeach Jacobs, including previous statements given to law enforcement, police reports, and investigative reports. (App. 2265-74). He testified he was able to get Jacobs to admit to numerous inconsistencies, including: his location during the shooting; the timeline of before, during, and after the shooting; whether Petitioner and his co-defendant said anything to him as they were walking first towards, then away from the club; how long he had known Petitioner and his co-defendant; whether other club patrons had guns; and whether Petitioner or his co-defendant had a gun and if it was concealed or wrapped in any manner. (App. 2265-74). He testified Jacobs admitted he was not forthright with law enforcement and his story changed several times in several different ways. (App. 2274). He testified that co-defendant Watts' counsel fully questioned Jacobs about his first report to Gregory that shots were fired from a white Isuzu SUV and how it was inconsistent with his later reports. (App. 2275-76). He testified he was also able to elicit testimony from Jacobs that he claimed to have known Petitioner and his family for more than twenty years but failed to provide law enforcement with Petitioner's name until late the next day. (App. 2262). He testified he was able to show the jury that Jacobs

was evasive, if not a liar, and not to be believed, which was beneficial to Petitioner. (App. 2265-74).

Weldon Gregory testified at the evidentiary hearing and recalled responding to the scene shortly after 4 o'clock in the morning. (App. 2182). He testified he was the first officer to arrive and his role was to secure the scene. (App. 2182, 2186-87, 2189, 2192). He testified he wrote the first page of a short, handwritten report later after other officers arrived upon learning the victim died at the hospital. (App. 2182-83, 2186, 2394-95; Respondent's Ex. No. 7). Gregory testified he spoke with Jacobs and Jacobs told him he spoke with the two suspects, told them the club was close, the suspects got into a white SUV (possibly a Nissan with a black stripe down the side) and fired shots over the top of the vehicle towards the club. (App. 2182-83, 2394-95; Respondent's Ex. No. 7). He testified Jacobs did not give him the names of the two suspects he described, but was unsure if Jacobs provided any names to investigators on the scene. (App. 2185-86). Gregory testified he is not an investigator, only received a basic description from Jacobs, and that investigators arrived on the scene within minutes of his arrival. (App. 2189-90).

In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court denied and dismissed this claim, finding:

[Petitioner] has failed to establish any deficiency of trial counsel in regards to his allegations involving Weldon Gregory. Trial counsel testified that as a general rule, he does not like to call members of law enforcement as defense witnesses because it is more harmful than helpful to defendants based on his more than forty years of experience. Additionally, he testified that he was able to successfully cross-examine Jacobs without calling Gregory as a defense witness and was able to impeach Jacobs with other documents and testimony, including Gregory's incident report, although not all documents were admitted into the record at trial. This Court agrees with trial counsel's assessment as Jacobs was thoroughly examined as to his recollection of events and his identification

of [Petitioner] and his co-defendant. Therefore, this Court finds that trial counsel's performance was not deficient and that [Petitioner] has failed to meet his burden of proof.

Furthermore, this Court finds that [Petitioner] has also failed to show any resulting prejudice from this alleged deficiency. This Court finds that Gregory's testimony added very little to the overall presentation and likely would have had no impact on the result of the proceeding. As discussed above, trial counsel challenged the State's eyewitness Jacobs on virtually every aspect of his recollection. This Court is not convinced that testimony from Gregory would have had any impact on the jury's view of Jacobs or his credibility, much less the result of [Petitioner]'s trial. Consequently, this Court finds that [Petitioner] has failed to prove the requisite prejudice necessary for relief. Based on the foregoing, this Court finds that [Petitioner] has failed to establish either of the required prongs needed for relief and that this allegation must be denied and dismissed with prejudice.

(App. 2421-22). These findings are supported by ample evidence of probative value in the record and should be affirmed. See Cherry, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

In his petition, Petitioner alleges he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to cross-examine Jacobs adequately about his initial statement to Gregory because it would have aided in a third-party guilt defense. (PWC p. 11). In support of this contention, Petitioner cites to Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 665 S.E.2d 596 (2008). However, since Miller, this Court has reexamined third-party guilt claims, notably in State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 341, 748 S.E.2d 194, 206 (2013) cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 400, 190 L. Ed. 2d 289 (U.S.S.C. 2014).

The admissibility of evidence of third-party guilt is governed by State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941). In Gregory, the South Carolina Supreme Court held evidence of third-party guilt that only tends to raise a conjectural inference that the third party, rather than the defendant, committed the crime should be excluded. Id. at 105, 16 S.E.2d at 534. Furthermore, to be admissible, evidence of third-party guilt must be

“limited to such facts as are inconsistent with [the defendant's] own guilt, and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence.” Cope, 405 S.C. at 341, 748 S.E.2d at 206 (citing Gregory at 104, 16 S.E.2d at 534 (internal quotations omitted)). Pursuant to this standard, Petitioner cannot establish the requisite prejudice necessary for relief, as Gregory’s testimony and report are not facts raising an inference or presumption of innocence because they are not facts or circumstances that tend to clearly point out someone else as the guilty party. Evidence of Jacobs initially informing the first responding officer that a passenger from a white SUV fired shots is not inconsistent with Petitioner’s guilt, nor does it raise a “reasonable inference”—and certainly not a presumption—of Petitioner’s innocence. See Id. Therefore, Petitioner cannot establish that he was prejudiced because such testimony would have aided his third-party guilt defense.

Based on the foregoing, these findings are supported by ample evidence of probative value in record and should be affirmed. See Cherry, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626. The post-conviction relief court properly determined counsel performed effectively in his handling and examination of State’s witness Ricky Jacobs. Furthermore, the post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of establishing any prejudice from this alleged deficiency. This petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.